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BCE Emergis is taking a leadership position in evolving B2B commerce. The Company is

building on early advances in e-procurement to focus today on the most critical aspects
of commerce — the acts of paying and getting paid. These essential financial settlement
functions are at the core of BCE Emergis’ rich suite of network-hased transaction services,

delivering value every day to customers in the health and financial services sectors.

Presentment

Qur invoicing and billing presentment solutions take online purchasing to the next level,
cutting expenses associated with billing, adjudicating and settling purchases.

Fast, convenient, accurate, and secure, BCE Emergis solutions for enterprise invoicing and consumer billing
leverage banking relationships to efficiently link suppliers, buyers and financial institutions. Enterprises
streamline invoice presentment, analysis, dispute resolution and payment approvals, slashing paper processing
costs and improving working capital management. Consumers receive bills on a routine schedule with built-in
reminders and can pay automatically through their bank or directly to the biller. No wonder BCE Emergis
invoicing and billing solutions are the applications of choice for three of the top five U.S. banks and many

of the largest banks in Canada.

André Piette | Senict Manager !

Technology and Business Relations { National Bank of Canada

Bill and invoice presentment is a key component of our eBusiness ko ’
strategy and the e-route/webdoxs solution allows us to offer significant
economies of scale to our consumer and corporate Customers. :
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Strong results in a challenging 2001
In driving toward our objectives, we have focused on a business model based on having strong recurring
revenue. At the end of 2001, fully 78 per cent of revenue was on a recurring basis.

In 2001, we were successful based on any ¢ and all measures of performance, a particulaily gratifying
result given the difficult times in the technology industry and the North American economy as a whole..
We grew revenues 40% over the previous year to $656.4 million. EBITDA results were even stronger,
,]umprng 70%-to $126.8 million. And cash baseline earnings almost doubled, to $58.6 million.

‘Beyond the f1nanc1als, however, 2001 was a year in which-we ramped up our market 1eadersh1p on
a variety of fronts. ‘

Flnanclal Servu:es S T
'In Canada e-route an electronrc brll presentment initiative; for which we proyide service, counted 26 billers - . -
and more than 400; 000 customers by March 2002 ERIERA RN

‘In the U.s., we saw a dramatrc increase ip‘our penetration into the fmancral services 1ndustry For mstance
we announced agreements to provide invoice presentment and payment solutlons to, as well as through
three of the five largest banks - JPMorgan Chase, BankOne and Bank of America.

And we are partnerrng with VisaU.S.Ato integrate our electronic invoicing solution into Visa’s
commercial payment systems as well as assisting them to develop additional payment applications.
The-Visa brand-touches virtually every financial institution and business in the world. With

- BCE Emergis technology at the centre of thrs vast network we are transforrnmg the business -

. payment process. . -

Health Ser\uces 7 _
Inthe Health sector our web-based Clarms Exchange, which electronically processes health insurance
claims from adjudication to payment to the consumer, continues to progress. Our strength in'this
sector won us the opportunity to develop a web-enabled health clarms approval and payment system v ‘
for the Ontano Workplace Safety and Insurance Board. ’

: On the 1nnovatron front, with The Principal Financial Group as our first customer, we launched ]
an electronrc prermum presentment and management solution for the health and life insurance industry. -
This will enable the insurer to offer its corporate customers labor—savmg, real-time invoicing that features-

he ]atest census data for approval and payment over the Internet. e

Overall we are well posrtroned in the Health sector both in Canada and in the U.S. For example
“in the U.S;, we established a beachhead in thé medical claims market, handling close to five million';
transactrons in 2001. But that i s just the beginning. Our key asset is our unmatched reach into

the universe of health players - from care providers such as doctors and hospitals to health
insurance companies - who drive most of the 2.3 billion claims a year in that sector. We will build -
on those felationships to capture a substantial share of that untapped opportunity.




Bell Canada... a channel to new markets .
: 1n addition to these successes in our two key sectors, we moved aggressively in 2001 to lever our
relationship with other BCE Inc. companies. For instance, we provide advanced, network-centric. .
: . eCommerce solutions through the Bell Canada sales channel, significantly expanding our market
’i reach. As well, through our BCE relationship, we are the key “security” playet in the Federal _
f : Government’s Secure Channel initiative that will provide citizens and businesses with-a digital
signature to authenticate and secure their-on-line dealings with the F_éderal ‘governmen{. .

On every front, then, a successful year.

Challenges ahead _ ‘ . ; ;
) In 2002, as patt of the drive to extend the scope of our solutions and their efficiency benefits, we are.

focussing more sharply on accelerating the adoption of ¢éBusiness within the major opportunities we havé :
inhand. o ‘ _ o ‘ A o

- . ‘ . Given thereach and influence of customers such as Visa, the major Aniéiicar; banks,‘the health

§ : ' * insurance companies and provider networks, e-route in'Canada and the market presence of our BCE

partners, we have the relationships in place to influence the roll-out of network-centric solutions;

especially among out existing customers and their own business »netwo‘rks‘. EE

S o

_ -Building on those relationships, we-are committing resourcesto work with.our customers to ensure - -
: théy and their trading partners are getting every possible benefit from tHe network-based solutions ‘
we are providing, : o E S
Early 2002 has presented us with urliquez challenges and difficult times for all stakeholders. To respond
to this, we are developing plans and deepening our focus on core competencies to better position
BCE Emergis going forward. ‘ " ‘ - o

The experienced resources o o
" Those resources take in the full range of people who contribute t‘o"our‘pfogrevss:‘ those who invest their
“ftust in us as customers and shareholders, those who support our offerings as alliance partners and those ‘
who provide seasoned guidanceon the Board. o : L ‘ ) ! )
talso includes people whose talent, commitment and experience move our Company forward on a daily -
.. “basis - our employees. e ' SRR :

—}

Christian Trudesy Emergis

President and Chief Operating Officer

All-these and many more have supported our every.initiative to make real the promise of Infemet-based A
_business. We thank them for their contributions. ) ‘ o ) ‘
It’s all about putting oi;r experience to work to place our net-based services at the héart of our customers’
" crucial operations. I o :
_ For we believe that as more ofganizations discover the ed ge they gain with e-based transactions, the.more
they will turn to BCE Emergis to deliver on that promise. :

"~ And we will be ready.
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Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

Management’s discussion and analysis provides a
review of the performance of our Company and should
be read in conjunction with Supplementary Financial Data
and the consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.
This discussion and analysis compares performance

for 2001 with 2000 and discusses issues and risks

that may impact future operations.

We prepare our financial statements in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”). All dollar figures are in Canadian
dollars unless otherwise indicated. Where we say “we”,

“us”, “our” or the “Company” we mean BCE Emergis
Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated.

Overview

Our Company
We are a premier eCommerce service provider,
strategically focusing on market leadership in the
transaction-intensive eHealth and financial services
sectors. Our focus is to offer technologically advanced
Internet-based eCommerce services that enable business
processes from orders through to payments. Qur
solutions transform business processes, such as buying,
selling, invoicing and payment, and provide insurance
claims processing and cost containment services
in the health sector. Our customers include leading
North American banks and insurance companies.

Our head office is located in Montreal, Quebec.

We also lease offices and facilities in various other
locations in North America, including the Toronto,
Ontario area, Rockville, Maryland and, Greensboro,
North Carolina. Our common shares (stock symbol
“IFM") are traded on The Toronto Stock Exchange
and included in the TSE 100 composite index. BCE Inc.
(“BCE”) directly and indirectly owned 65% of our
outstanding shares at December 31, 2001.

Services
Our services allow companies to transact business
and exchange information with their business partners
and customers. Our suite of solutions is focused
on our core competencies that comprise electronic
invoice presentment, electronic payment, and
insurance claim processing services. Our services
are centered on capturing and processing transactions
such as orders, invoices, statements, and health
insurance claims,

Strategic Business Units
We have structured our operations into three strategic
business units:

* eHealth Solutions Group;
* BCE Emergis — Canada; and
» BCE Emergis — U.S.A.

The eHealth Solutions Group business unit addresses
the North American health market by enabling the
processing of claims handled by health insurance
companies, workers compensation boards and
governmental agencies, and providing medical

cost containment services. We leverage our business
relationships with many leading life and health
insurance companies in both Canada and the U.S.
Our services are intended to offer clients cost savings
and efficiencies, as well as the opportunity to
re-engineer some of their current business practices.

BCE Emergis — Canada focuses on offering a wide range
of eCommerce technology solutions, which are sold
primarily through financial institutions and the Bell
Canada channel (Bell Canada is a subsidiary of BCE
and is the largest telecomrmunications company in
Canada). The focus of this business unit is on network -
centric services, business Internet access services and
our electronic business network services, all delivered
through the Bell channel, and on electronic invoice
presentment and payment solutions, through '
the financial institutions.




BCE Emergis — U.S.A. The objective of this business unit
is to focus primarily on the financial services market in
the U.S. working with financial institutions to distribute
our electronic solutions to their business customers.
This involves mainly the offering of electronic invoice
presentment and payment solutions. The comparative
2000 results for this unit included most of the revenue
related to the exited activities discussed elsewhere
(refer to note 10 to the consolidated financial statements).
This unit began its activities in late 2000.

Employees
As at December 31, 2001, we had approximately
2,600 employees, compared to approximately 2,000
as at December 31, 2000.

Corporate Highlights

Statement of Earnings

» 40% growth in revenue over 2000%;

*» 78% of revenue in 2001 was recurring in nature
compared to 87% in 2000;

319% or $205.4 million of total revenue was
related party revenue compared to $122.6 million
or 26% in 2000;

41% of total revenue in 2001 was U.S. sourced
revenue, up from 36% in 2000;

70% increase in our earnings before under-noted
items™ over 2000.

.

Balance Sheet

Cash and temporary investments totaled
$183.3 million, a $91.1 million increase arising
mainly from our Common Share public offering
(the “Offering”) in November, 2001;
Marketable securities totaled $1.9 million, down
$66.0 million, due mostly to a $33.1 million
write-down to reflect market conditions,

and to $26.0 million from proceeds of disposition;
Other Current Assets reduced mostly by the
collection of outstanding amounts as a result

of stronger cash cotlection efforts;

Total debt, comprised mainly of capital lease
obligations, was reduced to $65.6 million after
the repayment of our convertible debenture
due to our parent company in the amount

of $150.0 million with the proceeds from

the Offering subscribed to by BCE.

Statement of Cash Flows

* $105.7 million of cash flows generated from
operations, a 125% increase from $46.9 million
in 2000;

* $100.8 million generated from the Offering
after repayment of our convertible debenture
to BCE.

Corporate performance
The 2001 objectives, as set out in the MD&A contained
in our 2000 Annual Report, were as follows:

Objective | Achieve strong revenue growth
Performance | Our revenue for the year ended December
31, 2001 reached $656.4 million, a growth of 40%

over 2000.

Objective | Increase our earnings before under-noted
items*** margin over our 2000 performance.
Performance | Our margin increased to 19.3% for

the year ended December 31, 2001, from 16.0% in 2000.

Objective | Geographic revenue mix target between
40% and 44% from the U.S.

Performance | The revenue generated from the U.S.
reached 41% of total revenue.

Management’s objectives for 2002

» Grow the recurring revenue base;

* Increase operational focus on three core areas:
presentment, payment and claims processing:
— Drive channel effectiveness and customer

adoption,
— Make strategic acquisitions in core activities,
— Divest non-core products and businesses;

* Realign cost structure to ensure long-term

profitability.

* Includes revenue refating to our acquisitions for 2001 and revenues from our exited activities for 2000.
** Earnings before depreciation, amortization of intangibles, interest, write-down of assets, gains on sale of exited activities

and other expenses. (see our Consolidated Statements of £arnings)

*** This item was referred to as EBITDA in our 2000 MDGA.




Selected Quarterly Information

In § millions, except toss per share

a1 a2 a3 Qs
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000
Revenue 143.3 72.7 158.7 122.2 173.0 1321 181.4 141.0
Earnings before
under-noted items* 26.3 5.0 30.9 20.3 34.4 25.7 35.2 24,0
Net loss 115.0 41.1 90.6 82.1 107.5 83.3 101.3 72.8
Basic and diluted
loss per share 1.23 0.46 0.96 0.88 1.14 0.90 1.03 0.78

* See our Consolidated Statements of Earnings

8 Revenue by Quarter

-2uoof oo

There were significant increases in revenue and “earnings
before under-noted items” in Q2 2000 from Q1 2000,

as a result of the acquisition of BCE Emergis Corporation
in March, 2000.

Largely as a result of the amortization of goodwill
associated with the acquisitions of BCE Emergis
Corporation and BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc.,
net loss increased by approximately $55.4 million
per quarter starting in Q2 2000 and by $11.1 million
per quarter starting in Q4 2000.

k8 Earnings before uader-noted items* by Quarter

In Q4 2000, the negative impact of amortization

of goodwill was partially offset by approximately
$16.2 million because of a gain earned on exited
activities related to the delivery of logistics electronic
messaging services in the transportation industry
and docurnent workflow management.

The increase in net loss in Q1 2001 and Q3 2001

was mainly due to a $22.4 million and $15.3 million
write-down, respectively, in the carrying value

of our marketable securities and other assets discussed
elsewhere in this document. These amounts are included
in the $41.3 million write-down on our Consolidated
Statement of Earnings for the current year.




Results of Operations

Revenue Years ended December 31
2001 20080 Variance between
2001 and 2000
Business units S millions Y% Total $ millions % Total $ millions %
eHealth Solutions Group 307.0 46.8 209.9 449 97.1 46.3
BCE Emergis — Canada 296.4 45.2 2343 50.1 62.1 26.5
BCE Emergis — U.S.A. 53.0 8.0 23.8 5.0 29.2 122.7
656.4 100.0 468.0 100.0 188.4 40.3

E Revenue by Business Unit

| BCE Emergis — Canada | BCE Emergis - U:S.A”

2000

2001

Our revenue recognition policy is disclosed in the notes
to our consolidated financial statements. Our revenue
is derived from recurring and non-recurring sources.

Recurring revenue:

» Transaction or usage-based charges for access to
our technology and for services including claims
processing and cost containment, drug-claim
adjudication and payment, payment and
presentment processing and electronic messaging;

* Fixed and user-based monthly charges, primarily
for hosting and secure network services.

Non-recurring revenue:

* Fees for professional services related to
the development, integration, installation and
maintenance of our solutions for clients; and,
» Initial software license fees.

% of Revenue by Business Unit

IR TR0 BCE Emeryis — Canada | BCE Ensrgis — U.S.A,

5.0% 8.0%

Recurring & Non-Recurring Revenue

Nan-Recurring




Total revenue for 2001 increased by $188.4 million,
or 40.3%, owing to increases in recurring and
non-recurring revenue. Recurring revenue grew by
approximately $103 million, or 25% over previous year,
mainly through acquisitions (net of exited activities)
and foreign exchange. Non-recurring revenue grew
by approximately $85 million or 145% over 2000.
This increase in non-recurring is due to higher
revenue generated from the development, licensing
and implementation of our internally developed
technologies, including e-Invoicing, network-centric
services and web-claims exchange.

Our recurring revenue accounted for approximately
78% of our total revenue for 2001, compared to 87%
of our total revenue for 2000. Our non-recurring
revenue for 2001 totalled $143.3 million.

Geographic segmentation of revenue.

Related party revenue

Our related party revenue from the Bell Canada family
represented $205.4 million or 31.3% of total revenue,
an increase of $82.8 million or 67.5% over 2000 revenue
from these related parties.

Included in the $205.4 million is $167.4 million of
recurring revenue, representing 81.5% of our related party
revenue. In 2000, $121.5 million of the $122.6 million
of related party revenue was recurring. The bulk of
these amounts relate to our exclusive reseller agreement
with Bell Canada. Consistent with the BCE convergence
strategy, which is to develop services that combine
connectivity and eCommerce or content, there were
other significant agreements in 2001, including

for network-centric services, for e-Invoicing and for
security application services.

Excluding related party revenue, growth would
have been $105.6 million, or 31% over 2000.

Years ended December 31

2001 2000

S millions % Total S millions % Total

Canada 385.5 58.7 297.8 63.6

U.S.A. 270.2 41.2 168.3 36.0

Other 0.7 0.1 1.9 0.4
Total 656.4 100.0% 468.0 100.0%

tation of Revenue

36.0%

0.4% > 0.1%

04 o 63.6% 58.7%
1000 2001

The above table shows our revenue both in dollars

and as a percentage of total revenue for the respective

fiscal years by country of origin.

The change in our geographic revenue mix is primarily
attributable to increased revenue from our eHealth

and U.S.A. business units. '

Strategic business units
eHealth Solutions Group
The eHealth business unit is our most significant
sector, representing 46.8% of our total revenue, up
from 44.9% in 2000. The $97.1 million or 46.3%
increase in the eHealth business unit is due primarily
to acquisitions, internal growth and the favourable
impact of exchange rates between the Canadian
and U.S. currencies. Recurring revenue in this business
unit increased by approximately $56.7 million
and non-recurring by $40.4 million. In 2000, revenue
of a non-recurring nature was not significant.

In 2001, revenue for this sector included:

* A full year of results for BCE Emergis Corporation;

* Results of operations from Associates for Health
Care, Inc. (“AHC”), since june 28, 2001, the date
of acquisition.




« Professional services due to agreements signed
with Clarica Life Insurance Company and Canada
Life Financial Corporation related to the ongoing
development of our web claims and premiums
exchange;
Initial license fees from the sale of our e-Invoicing
solutions to various customers including The
Principal Financial Group®, a U.S.- based insurance
company with whom we signed a five-year,
transaction-based agreement; and
» A final amount received upon the ending of a
royalty agreement with a health benefits company
with respect to retail access by individuals to our
national network of physicians and hospitals. This
amount was included in our non-recurring revenue.

.

BCE Emergis — Canada

The Canada business unit represents 45.2% of our total
revenue. The $62.1 million or 26.5% increase in revenue
generated by this unit is due primarily to the greater sales
activity in the Bell Canada group. In 2001, revenue from
the Bell group represented $169.6 million, an increase
of $65.8 million or 63.4% over the 2000 revenue level:
$146.6 million ($102.7 million in 2000) of this amount
was recurring; $38.2 million (86.4 miltion in 2000)

of this amount was related to internal use and to

the development of products for resale.

In October, 2001, we announced that we had signed

a number of key agreements with Bell Canada for the
provision of advanced eCommerce services. Under these
agreements, we have extended the exclusive reseller
agreement signed in 1999 with Bell Canada for another
three years and expanded this agreement to include,

in addition to business Internet access services, our
electronic business network services which enable enter-
prises to connect with their partners and exchange data
in a secure IP-based environment. Committed revenue
over the three-year term will amount to $315 million.
The original reseller agreement was due to terminate

on December 31, 2001. We also signed additional multi-
year agreements for the provision of other eCommerce
services such as network-centric services and security
services. Revenue under the network-centric services
contributed to growth in this business unit in 2001.
While committed revenue will progressively decline

in the second and third years of the reseller agreement,
we will benefit from the opportunity to derive additional
revenue from the network-centric services and security
services. Revenue from all these agreements is forecasted
at $132 million for 2002. This amount includes revenues
received directly from Bell Canada and directly from
other customers with Bell acting as distributor. The amount
to be received directly from Bell will decrease from the 2001
level due to lower pricing for the business Internet access
services under the reseller agreement.

Furthermore, we extended for an additional three years

a service agreement with BCE Nexxia (“Nexxia”), under
which we retain Nexxia, mostly on a fixed price basis,

as our exclusive Canadian supplier of services such as
network services and operations management services,
which are necessary to enable us to offer, support, provision
and deliver business Internet access services, electronic
business network services and other security services.

This business unit also includes.our eCommerce activities
related to e-route and Procuron for which adoption rates
are not progressing as fast as originally anticipated.

BCE Emergis — U.S.A.

The U.S.A. business unit generated $53.0 million

or 8% of total revenue and this revenue was mostly

of a non-recurring nature. This amount reflects the
growth in our initial software license and professional
fees related to our e-Invoicing solutions. As previously
indicated, year-over-year comparisons are not meaningful,
since 2000 results include revenue from exited activities.

This business unit signed several key customer
agreements during 2001. It signed a S-year agreement

with VISA U.S.A. that expands our payment and invoicing
solutions in the U.S. We will work closely to integrate

our products into VISA’s commercial payment solutions.
We will also provide VISA with other payment-related
application tools to facilitate the implementation and
adoption among its large commercial customer base.

It signed a five-year agreement with Bank of America
that will enable the bank to offer our e-Invoicing solution
to its divisions and business customers around the
world in multiple languages and multiple currencies.
Concurrent to this agreement, we acquired technology
assets from the bank as discussed under Acquisitions.

In addition, it entered into agreements with Teleglobe
Inc. for the resale of our eCommerce services in the

area of security and invoice presentment and payment.
As a result, Teleglobe will be offering our e-Invoicing

and security services to its global business and telecom
carrier custormner base. The initial fees payable by Teleglobe
under these agreements were $7.5 million and were
included in our non-recurring revenue.

Lastly, it signed a number of other agreements with
U.S. companies for our e-Invoicing solution such

as PPG Industries, Inc. and Equifax Inc. and a number
of alliances for the resale of our e-Invoicing solutions
such as with Clarus Corporation.

We also derived revenue, mainly from the Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac) and its
customers for our electronic mortgage and relocation
service business.

These agreements are expected to translate into
recurring revenue in the future. UB




Direct caosts

Years ended December '31

2001 2000 Variance between
2001 and 2000
Business units $ millions % Revenue § millions % Revenue $ millions %
eHealth Solutions Group 49.4 7.5 29.2 6.2 20.2 69.2
BCE Emergis — Canada 96.1 14.6 78.2 16.7 17.9 22.9
BCE Emergis — U.S.A. 33 0.5 4.6 1.0 1.5) (32.6)
148.6 22.6 112.0 23.9 36.6 32.7

Gross Margin Years ended December 31
: 2001 2000 Variance hetween
2001 and 2000
Business units S millions | Gross margin % S millions | Gross margin % $ millions %
eHealth Solutions Group 257.6 83.9 180.7 86.1 76.9 42.6
BCE Emergis — Canada 200.3 67.6 156.1 66.6 44.2 28.3
BCE Emergis — U.S.A. 49.9 94.2 19.2 80.7 30.7 159.9
507.8 77.4 356.0 76.1 151.8 42.6

Direct Costs by Business Unit

BCE Emergis — Canada | BCE Emergis = U:S:A::

2001

2000

Direct costs consist of telecommunications costs
relating to services provided to clients, provider
network access fees, the cost of products or services
purchased specifically for client projects, royalties
pertaining to certain products and personnel costs
for the installation and integration of specific client
projects directly related to revenue. Overall direct
costs increased by $36.6 million, or 32.7%.

The dollar amount increase in direct costs from 2000
10 2001 for our eHealth Solutions Group business
unit is mainly due to the full year impact of the BCE
Emergis Corporation acquisition as well as increased
provider network access fees for our U.S. operations.

a

Direct Costs by Business Unit as a % of Total Direct Costs

WYY ST BCE Emergis — Canada | BCE Emergis'= U.S.A:

2.1%

The latter explains why our gross margin percentage
in this business unit decreased.

The dollar amount increase in direct costs related

to our Canada business unit relates mostly to higher
telecommunication costs. Our gross margin remained
relatively unchanged for this business unit at
67.6% in 2001, up from 66.6% in 2000.

The decrease of direct costs as a percentage of revenue
reflects the impact of the acquisition of BCE Emergis
Corporation, which has significantly lower direct

costs than the rest of our operations, and increased
operating leverage. >




The direct costs of our U.S.A. business unit are not
comparable year-over-year due to the inclusion
of our exited activities in our 2000 financial results.
The current high gross margin is mostly due to

our e-invoicing solution for which direct costs are
not significant. Costs related to these solutions
are mostly related to sales and marketing and
research and development.

Expenses Years ended December 31
2001 2000 Variance between
2001 and 2000
$ millians % Revenue $ millions % Revenue $ millions %
Operations 178.3 27.2 148.1 31.6 30.2 20.4
~ Sales and marketing 771 1.7 53.7 1.5 23.4 43.6
Research and development ~ 58.3 8.9 28.0 6.0 303 108.2
General and administrative  67.3 10.2 51.4 11.0 15.9 30.9
381.0 58.0 281.2 60.1 99.8 35.5

Sales and Marketing

Research and Development <+ [ A S L L Loty

Operations

Operations expenses consist primarily of personnel
and personnel-related expenses, software and hardware
maintenance and facilities costs.

Expenses have decreased as a percentage of revenue,
due mostly to our revenue mix and the fact that

our non-recurring revenue is not generally associated
with operations costs.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of
personnel-related costs, as well as advertising costs
and trade shows.

Expenses have remained constant as a percentage
of revenue. The dollar increase relates mostly to
increased headcount and related expenses that are
mainly attributable to our channel management
needs in the Canadian business unit and the
increased sales force in the U.S.A. business unit.

Research and development

Research and development expenses consist largely

of personnel-related and consultancy costs associated
with the development of new solutions and the
enhancements and maintenance of existing solutions.

The increase is due to the continued development
of our e-invoicing solutions, the development

of our web claims and premiums exchange,

our investment in new solutions such as network-
centric services, and the development of additional
functionalities in our other existing solutions

such as our electronic bill presentment and
e-procurement services.

During the year, we recorded investment tax credits
in the amount of $4.9 million as a reduction of

our research and development expenses. None were
recorded in 2000.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses consist largely
of personnel-related costs for executive and corporate
departments and facilities costs.

Expenses decreased as a percentage of revenue
because of the pace at which revenue grew and
due to the consolidation of our corporate resources
in Montreal, Quebec and Rockville, Maryland.




Depreciation

Years ended December 31

2001 2000 Variance hetween

2001 and 2000

S millions $ millions $ millions Y

Depreciation 45.4 28.0 17.4 62.1

Depreciation expense relates to computer equipment,
purchased software, licenses, acquired rights,

assets under capital leases, furniture and fixtures,
office equipment and leasehold improvements.

Amortization of intangibles

The increase over 2000 reflects both our continued
and on-going commitment to invest in capital
assets to build our infrastructure and the impact
of our acquisitions.

Years ended December 31

2001 2000 Variance between

2001 and 2000

$ millions $ millions $ millions %

Amortization of intangibles 407.1 317.8 89.3 28.1
Interest

As a result of using the purchase method to account for
our acquisitions, we allocated a portion of the purchase
cost to acquired technologies and goodwill. Due to the
rapid pace of change in our knowledge-based technology
industry, we believe that these assets will have a short life
and have, therefore, estimated their useful life at three
years. We have amortized them over a three-year period
commencing on the date of acquisition.

Amortization of intangibles pertains to acquired
technologies and goodwill. The increase relates

to a full year of amortization for both BCE Emezrgis
Corporation and BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc.

in 2001, compared to approximately nine months
and three months amortization, respectively in 2000.

The goodwill associated with the electronic business
solution assets (“EBS”) acquisition of August,
1998 has been fully amortized in the current year.

New accounting standards are discussed (see Future
accounting changes and note 2 to our Consolidated
financial statements) in this document in connection
with the amortization of goodwill and intangible
assets. As result of these new standards, there will

not be any amortization of goodwill recorded in 2002.
Goodwill will, however, be assessed for impairment
on an annual basis.

Long-term debt

The increase in interest on debt relates mostly to

the interest of $8.5 million compared to $7.9 million
in 2000 on the convertible debenture due to our parent
company, and increased obligations under capital
leases. As the convertible debenture was repaid in
2001, we expect the interest on our long-term debt

to decrease in 2002.

Accretion on convertible debenture

The accretion on the convertible debenture relates
to the option on the convertible debenture due

to our parent company issued in December, 2000.
The debenture was repaid in full in November, 2001
with the proceeds from the Offering discussed
elsewhere in this document. As a result, no accretion
charge is expected for 2002.




Write-down of marketable securities
and other assets

During the year ended December 31, 2001, a write-down
of $33.1 million was recorded in our Consolidated
Statement of Earnings to reflect the unrealized loss in
the market value of the shares of The Descartes Systems
Group Inc. These securities were received as partial
consideration in 2000 for the disposal of non-core
assets related to the delivery of logistics electronic
messaging services in the transportation industry.

During the year, a provision of approximately

$5.4 million was recorded on certain other current
assets to reflect an impairment in their net
realizable value.

Income tax

The income tax provision was $21.1 million in 2001
compared to an income tax recovery of $5.9 million

in 2000. The effective tax rates for 2001 and 2000 were
(5.4%) and 2.1% respectively. The difference between
the statutory tax rate (40.26% in 2001 and 41.39% in
2000) and the effective tax rate is principally due to

the non-deductible amortization of intangible assets.

The current income tax provision of $17.5 million
in 2001 is mainly attributable to the foreign taxes
appticable to earnings from our U.S. operations.

Our current income taxes in 2002 will depend on
the revenues generated in the U.S.

The future income tax provision of $3.6 million in 2001
reflects the draw down of the future income tax assets
by $16.5 million, resulting from the reduced corporate
income tax rates announced for the years in which
these assets are expected to be realized.

Net loss

The net loss increased by $135.1 million in 2001 to
$414.4 million, from $279.3 million in 2000.

The increase in the net loss is explained by
the following factors:

Non-cash

Cash

Sub-total

$ millions

89.3

41.3

20.4

17.4
16.2

184.6

6.6

23

8.9

193.5

increase in the amortization
of intangibles

Write-down of marketable
securities and other assets

Decrease in recovery
of future income taxes

Increase in depreciation

Gains on sale of exited
activities recorded in 2000

Increase in current
income taxes

Net increase in interest
expense

These increases in expenses were mitigated by:

Non-cash

Cash

Sub-total

Total

4.2

52.0

2.2

54.2

58.4

135.1

Decrease in the accretion on
the convertible debenture

Increase in our earnings

before under-rioted items
Other
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Years ended Decemher 31

2001 2000

$ miltions $ millions

Cash flows from operating activities 105.7 46.9
Cash flows used for investing activities (102.9) (823.1)
Cash flows from financing activities 87.9 785.9
Other 0.4 0.8
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 91.1 10.5

The above table sets forth a summary of cash flow
activity and should be read in conjunction with
our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

As at December 31, 2001, we had $183.3 million

in cash and temporary investments on hand, compared
with $92.2 million in 2000. Our balance sheet
reflects a current ratio of 2.0 and working capital

of $145.8 million compared to a current ratio of

1.9 and working capital of $133.0 million as at
December 31, 2000. We also have access to unused
lines of credit totaling $16.0 million.

Operating activities
We generated $105.7 million of cash from our
operations, an increase of $58.8 million or 125% over

2000, due mostly to the strong growth in our operations.

Investing activities

Cash flows used in investing activities were $102.9 million
in 2001. Included in this amount is $59.2 million related
to acquisitions and $57.0 million for additions to our
capital assets. In total, we acquired $80.1 million of capital
assets. We financed $23.1 million and paid $57.0 million
in cash. In 2000, $53.8 million was paid for in cash

and $29.2 million was financed. The amount spent

on acquisitions includes AHC, San Francisco I, LLC

(a wholly owned subsidiary of Bank of America),

the first of three annual installments for the balance

of sale relating to the acquisition of BCE Emergis
Technologies, Inc., and ProCure.com. These amounts
include assets purchased from some of our customers
during the year for approximately $26.0 million,
including San Francisco 1, a subsidiary of Bank

of America in the amount of $13.4 million.

These transactions were separately negotiated

and recorded at arm’s-length terms.

Qur capital expenditures for 2002 are expected to be
lower than the $80.1 million and $83.0 million incurred
in 2001 and 2000, respectively. We expect to finance
these additions both through internally generated funds
and available credit facilities.

We also generated $26.0 million in proceeds from
the sale of our marketable securities.

The cash flows used in investing activities of $823.1 million
in 2000 are mainly due to our acquisition of BCE Emergis
Corporation in March, 2000.

Financing activities

Cash flows generated from financing activities totaled
$87.9 million. The bulk of this relates to the proceeds
generated from the Offering of $250.8 million offset
by our repayment, in the amount of $150.0 million, of
the convertible debenture due to our parent company.
In 2000, the $785.9 million figure related mostly

to the financing of our acquisition of BCE Emergis
Corporation, and included a convertible debenture
due to our parent in the amount of $150.0 million.

A second $150.0 million debenture was issued in 2000
to refinance the original debenture and this second
debenture was repaid in full in 2001.

We believe that we will be able to meet our anticipated
cash requirements for 2002 with our current funds

as well as through internally generated funds

from operations and borrowings under existing
credit facilities.




Common Share Public Offering
("Offering”)

On November 22, 2001, we completed a $250.8 million
Offering in Canada. We sold 2,600,000 common
shares of our Company at $38.735 to the public

for $100.8 million, and 3,870,968 common shares

to our majority shareholder, BCE at $38.75 for

$150.0 million. The proceeds from BCE were used

to repay our $150.0 million convertible debenture
held by BCE.

Acquisitions

In 2000, we acquired companies and assets using
the purchase method of accounting. Included in
these acquisitions are the following:

* In June 2001, we acquired for $30.0 million USD
all of the outstanding shares of AHC, a privately
held company involved in health care cost
management in the State of Wisconsin in

the U.S. We paid $10.0 million USD at closing.
This acquisition builds on our strategy to expand
the reach of our provider network into a new
geographic area.

In September 2001, we acquired, through a
merger, the assets in the business-to-business
electronic invoice presentment and payment
business of San Francisco |, LLC, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Bank of America, N.A., for $8.5 million
USD, including $2.5 million USD in common shares
of our Company and $6.0 million USD in cash.
This acquisition will expand our customer base.

In july 2001, we acquired the assets of Canadian-
based ProCure.com, a technology provider

of supplier enablement applications for a

total cash consideration of $6.4 million. This
technology related acquisition is complementary
to the development of our Order to Pay gateway.
Under the terms of the purchase agreement

of BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc. in September
2000, we agreed to pay additional purchase
considerations of up to $6.0 million USD upon
the achievement of specific objectives by

BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc. The achievement
of these objectives in the current year

resulted in an increase in the purchase price

of this company, and a corresponding increase
to the goodwill recorded on the acquisition in

the amount of $6.0 million USD.

.

See also note 9 to our consolidated financial statements.

Contingency

In October 2001, the United States Court of Appeals
for the Seventh Circuit ruled in favor of our U.S.-
based subsidiary, BCE Emergis Corporation in a case
brought against it by First Health Group Corporation
(“First Health”).

The Appeals Court upheld the earlier decision of the
United States District Court for the Northern District
of lllinois granting summary judgment in favor of

BCE Emergis Corporation, on false advertising and
contractual interference claims. The case was originally
filed in April 1996, and a favorable lower court decision
had been rendered prior to the acquisition of BCE
Emergis Corporation in March 2000. First Health has
now exhausted all of its appeals and this matter is closed.

Outlook

During 2001, we achieved our revenue targets through
increases in both recurring and non-recurring revenue.
Going forward, we expect the level of non-recurring
revenue to substantially decrease in 2002, because of
our prospective and existing customers’ more cautious
approach to undertaking new initiatives, which leads
to longer and more uncertain sales cycles. We therefore
expect our total revenue to decrease compared to the
2001 level.

The Company stated that for the first quarter of 2002

it would record significantly lower revenue and incur

a “loss before under noted items”. Consequently, it is
reviewing its cost structure to align it with its anticipated
revenue leve] and developing a cost reduction plan,
which will be-announced and initiated in the second
quarter. This plan will include a review of our operations
and anticipated capital requirements, and should result
in a significant reduction in our operating costs and
capital requirements. The total effect of lower revenue
and expense levels may lead to lower “earnings before
under noted items” both in terms of dollars and per-
centages of revenue from the 2001 level. Net earnings
will be impacted negatively by any charge related

to the stated plan. The Company has a good cash
position and a low debt level.

Going forward, we continue to believe in the
fundamental strength of our business and the markets
it serves and we will focus on driving adoption of our
services by and through our customers. This should
further build our recurring revenue base as most of
the agreements signed in 2001 are expected to generate
recurring revenue over the next years. Furthermore,
we plan to continue strategically focusing on three
areas, health, finance and network-centric services
with Bell Canada.
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Accounting changes

Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted the new
recommendations issued by the CICA with respect

to interim financial statements and earnings per share
(Handbook sections 1751 and 3500 respectively).

The new standards align Canadian reporting practices
with those of the U.S. Section 1751 establishes standards
for interim financial reporting. Under Section 3500,

the treasury stock method is used instead of the imputed
earnings approach for determining the dilutive effect

of warrants and options, and disclosure is required

of basic and diluted EPS, as well as the numerator

and denominator of per share data.

Please refer to our “Accounting Poficies” in our notes

to the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2001 included elsewhere
in this document.

Future accounting changes
The CICA issued new Handbook Sections 1581,
Business Combinations, and 3062, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets. Effective July 1, 2001, the standards
require that all business combinations be accounted
for using the purchase method. Goodwill resulting
from business acquisitions on or after July 1, 2001 is
not being amortized. Additionally, effective January 1,
2002, goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite
life will no longer be amortized to earnings and
will be assessed for impairment on an annual basis
in accordance with the new standards, including

_a transitional impairment test whereby any resulting
impairment will be charged to opening retained
earniings. We are currently evaluating the impact
of the adoption of the new standards, and it is likely
that the transitional impairment test could result
in a significant impairment charge. We will have
completed the assessment of the quantitative impact
on our financial statements by June 30, 2002.

In addition, the CICA issued amendments to
Handbook Section 1650, Foreign Currency Translation.
Effective January 1, 2002, the standards require that

all unrealized translation gains and losses on assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies be
included in earnings for the year, including gains

and losses on long-term monetary assets and liabilities,
such as long-term debt, which were previously deferred
and amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining
lives of the related items. These amendments will be
applied retroactively with restatement of prior periods.
We do not expect the adoption of the new standard

to have an impact on our financial statements.

-

The CICA also issued new Handbook Section 3870,
Stock-based compensation and other stock-based
payments. This Section establishes standards for

the recognition, measurement and disclosure of stock-
based Compensation and other stock-based payments
made in exchange for goods and services and applies
to transactions, including non-reciprocal transactions,
in which an enterprise grants shares of common stock,
stock options, or other equity instruments, or incurs
liabilities based on the price of common stock or other
equity instruments. This Section sets out a fair value
based method of accounting and is required for certain
stock-based transactions, effective January 1, 2002 and
applied to awards granted on or after that date. We are
currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of

the new standard, and therefore have not yet assessed
the impact on our financial statements.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Management’s discussion and analysis contains
certain forward-looking statements with respect to our
Company. These forward-looking statements, by their
nature, necessarily involve risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those
contemplated by these forward-looking statements.

We consider the assumptions on which these forward-
looking statements are based to be reasonable, but
caution the reader that these assumptions regarding
future events, many of which are beyond our control,
may ultimately prove to be incorrect since they are
subject to risks and uncertainties that affect us. You will
find below certain risks and uncertainties affecting us.

Our Annual Information Form filed with Canadian
securities commissions contains more information
on risks and uncertainties. We disclaim any intention
or obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise.

Risks and uncertainties

General and economic factors
General and economic factors such as a downturn in
the economy or a recession may have a negative impact
on our business and operating results. In addition,
we would be affected by fluctuation in the currency
exchange rates between the Canadian and U.S. dollar.
The strengthening of the Canadian dollar would have
an unfavourable effect on our net earnings.




Adoption of eCommerce
In order for us to be successtul, eCommerce must
continue to be widely adopted in a timely manner.
Because eCommerce, and transactions over the Internet
in general, are new and evolving, it is difficult to exactly
predict the size of this market and its sustainable
growth rate. Adoption of eCommerce has not been
as fast as originally anticipated.

Adoption rate of our solutions
by customers

In order to build our recurring revenue base, the number
of transactions we process must increase. This increase
will depend on the rate at which our solutions are adopted
by our customers and by our channel partners’ customers.
It will also depend on our ability to stimulate our channel
partners in being pro-active and successful in selling
our solutions to their customers.

Response to industry’s
rapid pace of change

1f we are unable to develop new technologies or
enhancements to our existing services on a timely
and cost-effective basis, or if our new services or
enhancements do not achieve market acceptance,
our sales may decline or may not grow at the same
rate as in the past.

Competition
The eCommerce and health care claims businesses are
intensely competitive and we have many competitors
with substantial financial, marketing, personnel and
technological resources.

Growth

_We have experienced rapid growth in our revenue.

To continue to grow:

i) there must be continued adoption of eCommerce
solutions;

ii) large financial institutions and health insurance
companies must adopt our eCommerce solutions
and be effective in reselling them to their
customers;

iii) we must integrate acquisitions successfully;

iv) our operations must be scalable; and

v) we must be able to enter into agreements that
generate non-recurring revenue and form the
basis for generafing new recurring revenue.

Operating resuits
We have experienced losses in the past. Revenue in
any quarter is substantially dependent on the quantity
of purchases of services requested in that quarter
by customers. Furthermore, our eHealth business unit
derives a significant portion of revenue from a small
number of major payor clients. The loss of a contract
with a major payor client or the inability to replace any
such client with new clients could have a significant
effect on our results.

Quarterly revenue, when inclusive of non-recurring
revenue, is difficult to forecast since the market for
eCommerce is rapidly evolving and our revenue

in any period is significantly affected by the economic
environment and its impact on Sales cycles, our ability
to enter into new sales agreements and by the announ-
cements and product offerings of our competitors as
well as alternative technologies.

Votatile quartecly revenues
and operating resuits

Our quarterly operating results have fluctuated in
the past and we expect them to continue to fluctuate
in the future. Volatility in quarterly results is mainly
due to the level of non-recurring revenue. If our
quarterly operating results fail to meet analysts’
expectations, the trading price of our common shares
could decline. In addition, significant fluctuations in
our quarterly operating results may harm our business
operations by making it difficult for us to implement -
our business plan and achieve our results.

Success of U.S, aperations
We are expanding our operations in the United States.
We have limited experience in marketing, selling
and supporting our services in other countries,
including the United States. We may not be able to
successfully market, sell, deliver and support our
services in the United States. We will need to devote
significant management and financial resources to our
expansion in the United States. In particular, we will
have to attract and retain experienced management
and other personnel. Competition for such personnel
is intense, particularly in the United States, and we
may be unable to attract and retain qualified staff.
If we are unable to expand our international operations
successfully and in a timely manner, our business
and operating results could be materially harmed.
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Acquisitions
A key element of our growth strategy has been and
continues to be to make strategic acquisitions.
We may not be able to integrate the operations of recently
acquired companies with our existing operations
without encountering difficulties and there can be no
assurance that, in the future, we will find acquisition
candidates on terms suitable to us or that we will have
adequate resources to consumrmate any acquisition.

Strategic relationships
We rely on strategic relationships to increase our client
base and if these relationships fail, our business and
operating results could be materially harmed. We view
our relationship with our parent company, BCE, as
strategic in nature and any change in this relationship
could affect our ability to generate new business or
maintain existing business.

Dependance on contracting
medical service providers

The business growth in our eHealth sector is dependant
on our ability to retain existing contracting providers,
to attract additional contracting providers and to
retain or improve the price concessions granted by
contracting providers. The termination of a significant
number of contracts with contracting providers having
a significant number of claims with our payor clients,
the inability to replace those contracts with similar
contracting providers and/or renegotiation of contracts
resulting in reduced price concessions could have a
significant effect on our results. Also the contracts do
not prohibit the contracting providers from entering
into discounted arrangements with others.

Defects in software or failures

in the processing of transactions
Defects in our owned or licensed software products,
delays in delivery, as well as failures or mistakes in our
processing of electronic transactions, could materially
harm our business, including our customer relation-
ships and operating results. Our operations are
dependent upon our ability to protect our computer
equipment and the information stored in our data
centres against damage that may be caused by fire,
power loss, telecommunications failures, unauthorized
intrusion, computer viruses and disabling devices,
and other similar events. We are party to a disaster
recovery agreement that provides an alternative off-site
computer system and business resumption site for use
in such disastrous events covering the majority of
our revenue. There can be no assurance that a fire
or other natural disaster, including national, regional
and local telecommunications outages, would not
result in a prolonged outage of our operations.

Security and privacy breaches
If we are unable to protect the security and privacy of our
electronic transactions, our business, including customer
relationships could be materially adversely affected.

Key personnel
We believe that our future success will depend upon
our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel.
The loss of the services of key persons could materially
harm our business and operating results and the failure
to hire and retain qualified personnel would harm our
ability to grow our business, which would materially
harm our operating results.

Protection of intellectual proparty
We depend on our ability to develop and maintain
the proprietary aspects of our technology. We cannot
be certain that we will be able to enforce our rights
or prevent other parties from developing similar
technology, duplicating our intellectual property
or designing around our intellectual property.

intellectual property infringement claims
Third parties may claim that we infringe on their
intellectual property. Any such claims, with or without
merit, could materially harm our business and
operating results.

Integrity of the public key
cryptography technology

Our Internet security solutions depend on public key
cryptography technology. Any significant advance in
techniques for attacking cryptographic systems could
render some or all of our existing Internet security
solutions obsolete or unmarketable, which could
reduce revenues from our security solutions and could
materially harm our business and operating results.

Industry and government regulations
Governmental policies adversely affecting our business
could be implemented by legislation, executive order,
administrative order or otherwise, particularly in the
U.S. health care industry. In that industry, a number
of proposals for health care reform have been made at
federal and state levels, including proposals to provide
greater government control of health care spending,
to reduce fraud and abuse, to broaden access to health
care services and to change the operating environment
for health care providers and payors. We cannot predict
what impact, if any, theses activities, which include
efforts to effect reform through legislation and changes
in administration or interpretation of government health
care programs, laws, regulations or policies, might have
on it. Any of these changes could have a significant
impact on our business and operating results.




Supplementary Financial Data

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data)

December 31

$ millions
2081 2008 1999
Consolidated Statements of Earnings
Revenue by Business Unit
eHealth Solutions Group 307.0 209.9 208
BCE Emergis — Canada 296.4 2343 157.7
BCE Emergis — U.S.A. 53.0 238 8.2
656.4 468.0 186.7
Recurring revenue (%) 78% 87% 86%
Related party revenue 205.4 122.6 50.5
Gross margin (%) 77% 76% 67%
EBITDA (note 1) 126.8 74.8 3.9
EBITDA margin (%) 19% 16% 2%
Depreciation 45.4 28.0 9.5
Interest expense (income), net 7.5 5.2 (2.4)
Net loss (414.4) (279.3) (66.1)
Basic and diluted loss per share (4.35) (3.04) (0.82)
Baseline earnings (loss) (note 2) 58.6 30.6 4.1
Baseline earnings (loss) per share 0.62 0.33 (0.05)
Weighted average number
of shares outstanding (millions) 95.2 91.7 80.3
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Cash and temporary investments 183.3 92.2 81.7
Working capital 145.8 133.0 46.1
Capital assets — net 1723 1523 126.1
Total debt 65.6 178.2 2238
Shareholders’ equity 914.9 995.0 401.6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Cash flows from operating activities 105.7 46.9 41.6
Additions to capital assets
(including amounts financed) 80.1 83.0 38.1
note i: earnings before depreciation, amortization of intangibles, interest, write-down of assets, gains on sale of exited activities
and other expenses.
note 2: before amortization of acquisition costs, one-time gains and charges, and future income taxes.
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Supplementary Financial Data o4

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data)

$ millions
2601 2000
04 03 12 i} 04 03 22 ot
Consolidated Statements
of Earnings
Revenue by Business Unit
eHealth Solutions Group  83.0 77.5 76.2 70.3 65.5 63.0 63.2 18.2
BCE Emergis ~ Canada 82.7 75.7 72.0 66.0 67.8 64.5 53.0 49.0
BCE Emergis — U.S.A. 15.7 19.8 10.5 7.0 7.7 4.6 6.0 5.5
181.4 173.0 158.7 143.3 141.0 1321 122.2 72.7
Recurring revenue (%) 75% 78% 80% 81% 81% 87% 90% 95%
Related party revenue 76.6 46.9 .40.6 41.3 41.0 32.4 26.9 22.3
Gross margin (%) 77% 77% 77% 78% 78% 75% 79% 70%
EBITDA (note 1) 35.2 34.4 30.9 26.3 24.0 25.7 20.1 5.0
EBITDA margin (%) 19% 20% 19% 18% 17% 19% 16% 7%
Depreciation 13.2 12.1 10.8 9.3 10.3 5.9 6.0 5.8
Interest expense
(income), net 1.6 2.0 2.0 1.9 1.7 1.2 2.4 0.1)
Net loss (101.3) | (107.5) (90.6) (115.0) (72.8) (83.3) (82.1) (41.7)
Basic and diluted loss
per share (1.03) (1.14) (0.96) (1.23) (0.78) (0.90) (0.88) (0.46)
Baseline earnings
(loss) (note 2) 17.9 15.2 12.5 13.0 9.1 14.9 8.4 (1.8)
Baseline earnings (loss) ) :
per share 0.18 0.16 0.13 0.14 0.10 0.16 0.09 (0.02)
Weighted average number
of shares outstanding
(millions) 98.0 94.2 93.9 93.8 93.6 93.0 92.8 88.5
Consolidated Balance
Sheets
Cash and temporary -
investments 183.3 81.9 58.6 69.6 92.2 50.4 86.5 79.1
Working capital (deficiency) 145.8 (76.4) (36.8) 128.0 133.0 (51.6) (28.0) | (13.9)
Capital assets — net 1721 148.2 138.4 146.2 152.3 142.4 127.8 132.7
Total debt 65.6 194.9 190.1 189.5 178.2 167.7 155.7 149.1
Shareholders” equity 914.9 764.2 834.7 919.9 995.0 1,041.6 990.2 | 1,070.2
Consclidated Statements
ot Cash Flows
Cash flows from (used for)
operating activities ' 62.9 36.7 20.7 (14.6) 47.3 52 19.3 (24.9)
Additions to capital assets
(including amounts :
financed) 47.2 10.2 17.0 57 29.2 26.0 12.7 151

note 1: earnings before depreciation, amortization of intangibles, interest, write-down of assets, gains on sale of exited activities

and other expenses.

note 2: before amortization of acquisition costs, one-time gains and~charges, and future income taxes.




| Supplementary Financial Data ...,

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data)

The terms “EBITDA” and “baseline earnings (loss)” used No reconciliation is provided since the amount is
in the MD&A do not have a meaning under Canadian equivalent to the caption “Earnings before under-noted
""""" Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and items” included in the Consolidated Statement of
therefore may not be comparable to similar measures Earnings. “Baseline earnings (loss)” represent net
presented by other publicly traded companies. EBITDA earnings before amortization of acquisition costs,
is defined as earnings before depreciation, amortization one-time gains and charges, and future income taxes.
of intangibles, interest, write-down of assets, gains A detailed reconciliation of “baseline earnings (loss)”
on sale of exited activities and other expenses. is presented below.
$ millions
2001 2000 1999
Baseline earnings (loss) 58.6 . 30.6 (4.1)
Amortization of intangibles 407.1 317.8 75.8
Accretion on convertible debenture
due to parent, related to the option 21.0 25.2 -
Writedown of marketable securities
and other assets 41.3 - ) -
Gains on sale of exited activities, net - (16.2) (13.8)
Income taxes — future 3.6 (16.8) -
Other - 0.1 -
Reported net loss (414.4) (279.3) (66.1)
$ millions
2001 2000 |
04 03| a2 a1 Y70 04 03 a2 01 YTD
Baseline earnings (loss) 17.9 15.2 ] 125 13.0 | 58.6 9.1 14.9 8.4 (1.8)] 30.6
Amortization of intangibles 97.1 | 105.0 | 103.8 | 101.2 } 4073 979 ] 923 | 90.0 | 376 | 3178

Accretion on convertible debenture
due to parent, related to the option 10.5 3.5 3.5 3.51 21.0 8.1 8.2 8.2 0.7} 252
Writedown of marketable securities

and other assets 2.1 15.3 1.5 224 413 - - - - -
Gains on sale of exited activities, net - - - - -1 (6.2 - - - | (16.2)
Income taxes — future 9.5 any 6.7 0.9 3.6 79, @3 @7 1.1} (16.8)
Other ' - - - - - - - -1 ©D]  ©»
Reported net loss (101.3)}(107.5)) (90.6) [(115.0)} (414.4) | (72.8)| (83.3)] (82.1)} (41.1){(279.3)
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Management's Report

The accompanying consolidated financial statements
of BCE Emergis Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Company”), and all information in this annual
report, are the responsibility of management and have
been approved by the Board of Directors.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared by management in conformity with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles. The financial
statements include some amounts that are based on
estimates and judgements of management and in their
opinion present fairly the Company’s financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. Financial
information presented elsewhere in the annual report

is consistent with that in the financial statements.

Management, in furtherance of the integrity

and objectivity of the financial statements, has
developed and maintains a system of internal
controls. Management believes the internal controls
provide reasonable assurance that financial records
are reliable and form a proper basis for the preparation
of financial statements and that the Company’s
assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded.
The internal control process includes management’s

Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders of
BCE Emergis Inc.

‘We have audited the consolidated balance sheets
of BCE Emergis Inc. as at December 31, 2001 and 2000
and the consolidated statements of earnings, deficit
and cash flows for the years then ended. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility

_is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by

Py

communication to employees of policies that govern
ethical business conduct.

The Board of Directors carries out its responsibility

for the financial statements in this annual report
principally through its Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee reviews the Company’s annual consolidated
financial statements and other information in this
annual report, and recommends their approval by

the Board of Directors. The shareholders’ auditors have
free and independent access to the Audit Committee.

These financial statements have been audited by
the shareholders’ auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP,
Chartered Accountants.

W. Brian Edwards Nelson Gentiletti
Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer
Chief Executive Officer

Montreal (Quebec), March 26, 2002

management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2001 and
2000 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles.

Dot § Touels LLP
Deloitte & Touche, LLP

Chartered Accountants

Montreal (Quebec), February 22, 2002




Consolidated Statements of Earnings

(In millions of Canadian dollars, except share data)

Years ended December 31

2001 2000
Revenue 656.4 468.0
Direct costs 148.6 112.0
Cross margin 507.8 356.0
Expenses
Operations 178.3 148.1
Sales and marketing 77.1 537
Research and development 58.3 28.0
General and administrative 67.3 51.4
381.0 281.2
Earnings before under-noted items 126.8 74.8
Depreciation 45.4 28.0
Amortization of intangibles 407.1 317.8
Interest income 4.7) (5.0)
Interest on long-term debt ) 12.2 10.2
Accretion on convertible debenture due to parent,
refated to the option (notes 7 and 9e) 21.0 25.2
Writedown of marketable securities and other assets (note 5) 41.3 -
Gains on sale of exited activities, net (note 10) - 16.2)
Other (2.2) -
Net loss before income taxes (393.3) (285.2)
Income taxes (note 14)
Current 17.5 10.9
Future 3.6 (16.8)
211 5.9)
Net loss (414.4) (279.3)
Basic and diluted loss per share ($) (note 11) (4.35) (3.04)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
used in computing basic and diluted loss per share 95,186,035 91,743,796

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




(In millions of Canadian déllars)
As at December ‘31
2001 2000
ASSETS
Current
Cash 40.2 39.0
Temporary investments, bearing interest at rates varying from ~
1.75% to 2.20% maturing to January 2002 1431 53.2
Marketable securities (market value $3.1 million at December 31, 2001
and $67.9 million at December 31, 2000) 1.9 67.9
Accounts receivable 98.6 76.4 -
Future income taxes (note 14) . 5.6 7.5
Other 9.6 37.6
299.0 281.6
Capital assets (note 3) 1721 1523
Goodwill, net 477.2 737.8
Future income taxes (note 14) 68.7 73.4
Other assets (note 4) 89.9 71.2 7
' 1,106.9 1,316.3
LIABILITIES
Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . 100.2 99.9
Deferred revenue 12.3 17.4
Deferred credits 12.0 12.0
Long-term debt (note 6) 28.7 19.3
153.2 148.6
Deferred credits ) 1.9 13.8
Long-term debt (note 6) 36.9 29.9
Convertible debenture due to parent (note 7) i ] — 129.0
. 192.0 321.3
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (note13)
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Option on convertible debenture due to parent (note 7) - 21.0
Capital stock (note 8) 1,596.0 1,303.7
Contributed surplus (note 8) 46.2 25.2
Deficit - (786.4) (372.0)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (note 15) 59.1 17.1
914.9 995.0
i 1,106.9 1,316.3
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of the Board,
é_/ 4 t%éé—;
<
HnberW John H. McArthur
Directo Director




Consolidated Statements of Ca;h Flows

(In millions of Canadian dollars)

Years ended December 31

2001 2000
Operating activities
Net loss (414.4) (279.3)
Depreciation and amortization 452.5 345.8
Accretion on convertible debenture due to parent, related to the option 21.0 252
Writedown of marketable securities and other assets 41.3 -
Future income taxes 3.6 (16.8)
Gains on sale of exited activities, net - (16.2)
Other ~ (1.9) 0.1)
Changes in working capital (note 12) 3.6 (11.7)
Cash flows from operating activities 105.7 46.9
Investing activities
Additions to capital assets (57.0) (53.8)
Acquisitions (59.2) (810.6)
Cash acquired on acquisition of Associates for Health Care, Inc. 0.8 -
Cash acquired on acquisition of BCE Emergis Corporation . - 46.3
Cash acquired on acquisition of BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc. —- 1.1
Proceeds on sale of marketable securities 26.0 -
Loan receivable (note 4) 12.0) —
Advances to company under common control - 2.2)
Note receivable from former majority shareholder of UP&UP - (11.6)
Settlement of note payable to former majority shareholder of UP&UP (1.5) -
Proceeds from sale of exited activities — net of transaction costs (note 10) - 7.7
Cash flows used for investing activities (102.9) (823.1)
Financing activities .
Issue of convertible debenture due to parent — 300.0
Repayment of convertible debenture due to parent (150.0) . (150.0)
Issue of long-term debt 15.7 -
Repayment of long-term debt (30.2) (16.3)
Bank advances — 5.7)
Issue of common shares 252.4 657.9
Cash flows from financing activities 87.9 785.9
Foreign exchange gain on cash held in foreign currencies 0.4 038
Cash and cash equivalents :
Increase 91.1 10.5
Balance, beginning of year 92.2 81.7
Balance, end of year ' 183.3 92.2
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash 40.2 39.0
Temporary investments 143.1 53.2
183.3 92.2
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information )
Interest paid 14.5 6.6
Income taxes paid ) 10.7 9.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




Consolidated Statements of Deficit

(In millions of Canadian dollars)

Years ended December 31 _

2001 2000
Deficit, beginning of year (372.0) (124.1)
Restatement related to the adoption of new accounting recommendations
relating to income taxes (note 14) - 31.4
Net loss (414.4) (279.3)
Deficit, end of year (786.4) (372.0)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) December 31, 2001

11Governing statute and nature of operations

BCE Emergis Inc. (“BCE Emergis”), incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations act, is a premier
eBusiness service provider, strategically focused on market leadership in the transaction-intensive eHealth

and financial services sectors. BCE Emergis, together with its subsidiaries is hereinafter referred to as

the “Company”. By layering technologically advanced eCommerce services on existing Internet-based platforms,
the Company offers its customers increasing value in their eCommerce adoption and ever-increasing levels
of sophisticated services. These scalable solutions electronically transform business processes, such as buying,
selling, invoicing and payment, and enable companies to succeed in the web-centric, cost-driven, and highly
competitive global Internet economy.

21Accounting policies

New accounting standards

Earnings per share

Effective January 1, 2001, BCE Emergis adopted the revised recommendations of the Canadian Institute

of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook section 3500, Earnings Per Share (EPS). The revised Handbook
section requires the presentation of both basic and diluted EPS on the face of the statement of earnings
regardless of the materiality of the difference between them. Basic EPS is calculated based on the weighted-
average nurmnber of shares outstanding. In addition, the treasury stock method is used to compute the dilutive
effect of options, warrants and similar instruments as opposed to the previously used imputed earnings
approach. The section also requires that a reconciliation of the calculation of the basic and diluted EPS
computations be disclosed.

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements of BCE Emergis have been prepared in accordance with Canadian
generally accepted accounting principles and include the accounts of all its subsidiaries. Certain prior year’s
figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation.

Revenue recagnition
Revenue is recognized as it is earned in accordance with the following:

* Transaction revenue is recognized as transactions are processed.

* Fees, such as hosting fees, network access fees and standby fees are recognized as services are rendered
or over the term of the contract.

License fees are recognized according to the terms of the license agreement. Perpetual licenses are
recognized upon delivery of the licensed software. Where the arrangement includes multiple elements,
license fee revenues are recognized on delivery, provided the undelivered elements are not essential

to the functionality of the license and the Company has evidence of fair value for all of the undelivered
elements. If payment of the license fee is subject to acceptance of the license, revenue is not recognized
until customer acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. The Company’s agreements with
customers and resellers do not contain product return rights.

Maintenance fees are recognized as earned.

Fees for professional and integration services are recognized as the services are rendered.

Fees for fixed price development work are recognized using the percentage-of-completion method either
on the basis of percentage of costs incurred to date on a contract, relative to the estimated total contract
costs or on the basis of the achievement of contract milestones. Losses, if any, on long-term contracts are
recognized during the period they are determined.

* Any other billings or cash received in advarnice of services rendered are recorded as deferred revenue.

.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements'

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) » December 31, 2001

21Accounting policies (cont'd)
Cash equivalents
Investments with original maturities of three months or less are classified as cash equivalents.

Capital assets
Capital assets are carried at cost. Depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of the assets. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Acquired technologies 3 years
Computer equipment,

software, licenses and

other acquired rights,

assets under capital leases 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Office equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements over the lease terms

expiring on various
dates until 2010
Customer acquisition costs 5 years

The Company reviews the carrying value of the acquired technologies, licenses, acquired rights and customer
acquisition costs for potential impairment on an ongoing basis. In order to determine if such an impairment
exists, management considers the impact of technological developments and the estimated future net operating
cash flows expected to be derived from these assets. A permanent impairment in the value of these assets is
written off against earnings in the year such impairment occurs.

Goodwill “

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired

in business combinations accounted for as purchases. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over 3 years.
The Company reviews the carrying value of goodwill for potential impairment on an ongoing basis. In order

to determine if such a permanent impairment exists, management considers projected future cash flows and
market-related values of the acquired businesses. A permanent impairment in the value of goodwill is written
off against earnings in the year such impairment occurs.

Deterred credits

Deferred credits consist of the deferred portion of a gain generated on a sale and leaseback of a real estate
transaction and a portion of the consideration received on exited activities repayable to the purchaser over
a two-year period if certain conditions are not met. The lease related item is being amortized to income

for a period of up to 8 years, representing the remaining term of the related lease.

Stock-based compensation plans .

The Company has stock-based compensation plans, which are described in note 8. No compensation expense is
recognized when stock options are issued to employees. Any consideration paid to the employees on the exercise
of stock options is credited to capital stock.

Income taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Future income taxes are provided
for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes
and the amounts used for tax purposes, computed based on rates and provisions of enacted and substantially
enacted tax law.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) December 31, 2001

21Accounting policies (cont'd)

Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect
at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses arising from foreign
currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Exchange gains
or losses arising from the translation are included in operations.

Self-sustaining subsidiaries are accounted for under the current-rate method. Under this method, assets
and liabilities of subsidiaries are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance
sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the period.
Resulting unrealized gains or losses are accumulated and reported as “Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment”
in shareholders’ equity.

Integrated foreign subsidiaries are accounted for under the temporal method. Under this method, monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities are translated at historical rates. Revenues and expenses are translated at average rates for

the period. Exchange gains or losses arising from the translation are included in operations.

Research and development

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs are expensed if they do not meet the criteria for
deferral. Investment tax credits earned relative to research and development activities are recorded as a reduction
of the expense.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of reveniues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Future accounting changes

The CICA issued new Handbook Sections 1581, Business Combinations, and 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets. Effective July 1, 2001, the standards require that all business combinations be accounted for using the
purchase method. Goodwill resulting from business acquisitions on or after July 1, 2001 is not being amortized.
Additionally, effective January 1, 2002, goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite life will no longer

be amortized to earnings and will be assessed for impairment on an annual basis in accordance with the new
standards, including a transitional impairment test whereby any resulting impairment will be charged to opening
retained earnings. Management is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of the new standards, and
it is likely that the transitional impairment test could result in a significant impairment charge. Management
will have completed the assessment of the quantitative impact on its financial statements by June 30, 2002.

In addition, the CICA issued amendments to Handbook Section 1650, Foreign Currency Translation. Effective
January 1, 2002, the standards require that all unrealized translation gains and losses on assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies be included in earnings for the year, including gains and losses on long-term
monetary assets and liabilities, such as long term debt, which were previously deferred and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the remaining lives of the related items. These amendments will be applied retroactively
with restatement of prior periods. Management does not expect the adoption of the new standard to have

an impact on its financial statements. S

a

26

21




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) Oecember 31, 2001

21Accounting policies (cont'd)

Future accounting changes {cont'd)

The CICA also issued new Handbook Section 3870, Stock-based compensation and other stock-based payments.
This Section establishes standards for the recognition, measurement and disclosure of stock-based
compensation and other stock-based payments made in exchange for goods and services and applies to
transactions, including non-reciprocal transactions, in which an enterprise grants shares of common stock,
stock options, or other equity instruments, or incurs liabilities based on the price of common stock or other
equity instruments. This Section sets out a fair value based method of accounting and is required for certain
stock-based transactions, effective January 1, 2002 and applied to awards granted on or after that date.
Management is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of the new standard, and therefore has not yet
assessed the impact on its financial statements.

31Capital assets
December 31, 2001

Accumulated
depreciation and Net book
Cost amaortization value
Acquired technologies 117.8 96.9 20.9
Computer equipment 46.2 30.0 16.2
Software 34.7 19.3 15.4
Licenses and other acquired rights 88.0 25.0 63.0
Assets under capital leases:
Computer equipment 43.0 18.2 24.8
Software 1.1 0.3 0.8
Furniture and fixtures 13.4 57 7.7
Office equipment 4.9 3.2 1.7
Leasehold improvements 12.8 4.6 8.2
Customer acquisition costs 13.4 — 13.4
375.3 203.2 1721




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data)

31Capital assets (cont'd)

December 31, 2001

December 31, 2000

Accumulated

depreciation and Net book

Cost amortization value

Acquired technologies - 112.9 59.9 53.0

Computer equipment 33.9 21.9 12.0

Software 21.3 12 9.2

Licenses and other acquired rights 48.3 58 425
Assets under capital leases:

Computer equipment 27.9 11.6 16.3

Software 3.0 0.5 25

Furniture and fixtures 11.2 5.6 56

Office equipment 3.9 2.0 1.9

Leasehold improvements 15.3 6.0 9.3

277.7 125.4 1523

11 Other assets

Included in other assets is an amount of $60.7 million ($57.4 million in 2000) representing advances to providers
of medical services (“contracting providers”). The Company’s contracts with contracting providers prescribe
specific fee concessions on medical services rendered by the contracting providers to patients covered by medical
plans of payor clients. In partial consideration for the price concessions furnished by them, contracting hospitals
are offered the option by the Company of receiving an advance (“prepayment”) of a portion of the estimated
annual claims volume that such contracting hospitals have with payor clients. Upon termination of a provider
contract by either party, the amount of advances (“prepayments”) through the date of termination becomes fully
due and payable to the Company. The Company considers deposits with contracting providers recoverable.
The Company also assesses the collectibility and provides for those amounts where collection is in doubt.

This amount also includes an amount of $9.0 million which represents the long term portion of a $12.0 million
loan receivable from a company in which BCE Emergis has an investment accounted for as a portfolio investment.

Additionally, other assets include an amount of $11.5 million representing certain marketable securities that
were reclassified to long term in the current year due to renegotiated terms.

51 Write down of marketable securities and other assets

During the year ended December 31, 2001, a write-down of $33.1 million was recorded in the Consolidated
Staternent of Earnings to reflect the unrealized loss in the market value of The Descartes Systems Group
shares. These securities were received as partial consideration in 2000 for the disposal of our non-core assets
related to the delivery of logistics electronic messaging services in the transportation industry.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, a provision of approximately $5.4 million was recorded on certain
other current assets to reflect an impairment in their net realizable value.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) December 31, 2001

) siLong-term debt

20 2000

Obligations under capital leases, secured by moveable hypothecs on

the related equipment, bearing interest at a weighted-average rate of

7.65% (2000 — 7.72%) and maturing on dates varying from January 2002

to January 2005. 38.9 22,6

Loans with various financial institutions bearing interest at varying

rates of 9.24% to 9.50%, repayable in monthly instalments, including

capital and interest, of $426,000 in 2002, $255,000 in 2003, and

$214,000 in 2004 and maturing on dates varying from December 2002

to August 2004. 87 6.0

Unsecured term loan payable bearing interest at 8.14%, repayable
in monthly instalments of $248,000 including capital and interest,
until November 2004. 8.0 -

Non-interest bearing balance of sale, repayable in instalments of

$2,800,000 USD in July 2002 and $1,200,000 USD in July 2003, secured

by a standby letter of credit in the amount of $3,000,000 USD which

will be reduced by $1,000,000 USD for each payment after July 2002. 6.4 12.4

Non-interest bearing balance of sale, repayable in quarterly annual
principal instalments of $323,000 maturing in December 2005. 1.3 -

Non-interest bearing balance of sale, repayable in annual principal
instalments of $250,000 maturing in July 2006. 1.2 -

Term loan payable to a company under common control, bearing
interest at 8.75%, repayable in monthly principal payments of $83,333
plus interest until January 2003, secured by a customer list held in escrow. 1.1 2.1

Bank term loan, bearing interest at prime plus 0.75%, repayable in
quarterly principal instalments of $422,000 until September 2004. — 6.0

Bank term loan, bearing interest at prime plus 2.75%, repayable
in quarterly instalments of $40,625 including capital and interest,
until November 2001. — 0.1

65.6 49.2
Less: current portion 28.7 19.3

36.9 29.9




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) December 31, 2001

51 Long-term debt (cont'd))

Minimum instalments on long-term debt, excluding obligations under capital leases (see note 13), are as follows:

2002 12.9
2003 7.9
2004 5.0
2005 0.7
2006 . 0.2

The Company has unsecured revolving bank credit facilities totalling $16.0 million ($25.0 million in 2000).
Funds advanced under these facilities are available at Canadian bank prime rate, and rates based on Banker’s
acceptances, U.S. base and LIBOR rates. These facilities are renewable annually. At December 31, 2001 and
2000 no amounts had been drawn on these facilities.

11Convertible debenture due to parent

In December 2000, BCE Inc., the parent company, purchased a $150.0 million debenture convertible at

the holder’s option into 1,989,389 common shares at a conversion price of $75.40 per share. The debenture bore
interest at 6.3% per annum, and had a maturity date of June 30, 2002. The fair value of the conversion option
associated with the convertible debenture was $21.0 million and was reflected as “option on convertible debenture

due to parent” in shareholders’ equity. The convertible debenture due to parent in the amount of $150.0 million
was repaid to BCE Inc. in the current year with the proceeds generated from the issuance of 3,870,968 common
shares to BCE Inc. (note 8). The accretion of the debenture (equal to the value of the conversion option) was
charged to earnings in the current year.

s: Capital stock
Authorized
Unlimited number of shares without par value.
Commeon shares, voting and participating.
Preferred shares, issuable in series, non-voting, terms and conditions determinable at issuance.

2001 2060
Number $ Number $
Issued and fully paid

Common shares 101,308,517 1,510.5 93,651,603 1,232.8
Common shares to be issued 70.9 56.3

Options issued in connection with
the BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc. acquisition 14.6 14.6
1,596.0 1,303.7
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2001

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data)

31 Gapital stock (cont’d)

The stated capital stock as at December 31, 2001 is detailed as follows:

Options
Not issued issued
Issued and fully paid and not as part of
fully paid acquisition
Common
shares
Number $ $ $
Balance December 31, 1999 86,773,705 525.8 — -
Issue of common shares (a) 5,517,827 650.0
Issue of common shares (b) 566,824 49.2
Issue of common shares (c) 150,000 1.6
Issue of common shares (d) 643,247 6.2
Common shares to be issued (e) 56.3
Options issued in connection with the BCE
Emergis Technologies, Inc. acquisition (note 9d) 14.6
Balance December 31, 2000 93,651,603 1,232.8 56.3 14.6
Issue of common shares (f) 583,598 6.0
Issue of common shares (g) 146,672 3.9
Issue of common shares (h) 319,981 15.0 (17.6)
Issue of common shares (h) 135,695 6.4 1.9
Issue of common shares (i) 2,600,000 100.8
Issue of common shares (j) 3,870,968 150.0
Share issue costs (k) 4.4)
Common shares to be issued (1) 30.3
Balance December 31, 2001 101,308,517 1,510.5 70.9 14.6

For the year ended December 31, 2000:

(@) 5,517,827 common shares at $117.80 per share for total cash consideration of $650.0 million were issued by
way of a private placement to the parent company in connection with the acquisition of BCE Emergis Corporation.
(b) 566,824 common shares were issued for a total consideration of $49.2 million in connection with the acquisition
of BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc. (Technologies).
(c) 150,000 common shares were issued for a total cash consideration of $1.6 million in connection with the acquisition
of Newstar Technologies Inc., in November 1998.
(d) 643,247 stock options were exercised to purchase 643,247 common shares for total cash consideration

of $6.2 million.

(e) The number of shares to be issued in connection with the Technologies acquisition described in note 9d was
not determinable as at December 31, 2000.
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31 Capital stock (cont'd.)
For the year ended December 31, 2001:

(f) 583,598 stock options were exercised to purchase 583,598 common shares for cash consideration of $6.0 million.

(g) 146,672 common shares were issued for a total consideration of $3.9 million in connection with the acquisition
in September 2001 of San Francisco |, LLC, wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of America, N.A, as described
in note 9a.

(h) 319,981 additional common shares for a value of $15.0 million were issued for the first instalment payment and
135,695 additional common shares for a value of $6.4 million were issued for the payment of the contingent
consideration related to the acquisition of Technologies (note 9d).

@iy 2,600,000 common shares were issued for $100.8 million in cash in connection with the November 15, 2001
offering to the public.

(j) 3,870,968 common shares were issued for $150.0 million in cash to BCE Inc. in connection with the November 15,
2001 offering.

(k) Share issue costs in the amount of $4.4 million were incurred in connection with the November 15, 2001 dffering.

() The number of shares to be issued in connection with the Associates for Health Care acquisition as described in note
9c¢ is not determinable as at December 31, 2001.

Stock options

The Company has granted options to directors, officers, employees and service providers of the Company to
purchase common shares. Under the BCE Emergis Share Option Plan, the exercise price of the options is set

at the market value of the underlying shares on the last trading day prior to the effective date of the grant.

The options granted before December 14, 1999 vest over a five-year period, and expire six years after the grant
date. Options granted after December 14, 1999 vest over a four-year period starting in the second year after the
grant. In Novernber 1999, as part of the acquisition of SNS/Assure Corp. and Assure Health Inc., BCE Emergis
assumed the obligations of these two corporations under their respective stock option plans and the options
under such plans now entitle the holder to common shares of the Company. In total, 301,729 common shares
were optioned under these two plans. Such options are all vested and will generally expire 10 years from the date
of their original grant by the two acquired corporations. Also in September 2000, as part of the acquisition of
Technologies, BCE Emergis assumed the obligations of this corporation under its stock option plan and the
options under such plan now entitle the holder to common shares of the Company. In total, 167,968 commmon
shares were optioned under this plan. Subject to a number of exceptions, such options vest over a four-year period,
and expire 10 years after their original grant by Technologies. The exercise prices under the three stock option
plans assumed as part of these acquisitions are based on a formula related to the acquisition price. As at December
31, 2001, 5,052,783 (3,361,674 in 2000) options were outstanding.

The following table summarizes option activity:

2001 2000

Weighted Weighted

Number of average Number of average

optians exercise price optians exercise price

($) {S)

Outstanding - beginning of year 3,361,674 29.04 3,310,176 158
Granted 3,085,398 44.55 758,960 79.64
Exercised (583,598) 10.26 (643,247) 9.61
Cancelled (810,691) | 50.79 (64,215) 22.21
Outstanding — end of year 5,052,783 37.19 3,361,674 29.04
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siCapital stock (cont'd)

December 31, 2001

The following table summarizes information about options outstanding under the share option plans
at December 31, 2001:

Options outstanding

Options exercisahle

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average average

Range of exercise exercise remaining exercise remaining

prices Number price lite Number price life

N ¥is. $ Yrs.

$0.00 to $5.00 114,480 1.06 6.8 48,294 1.73 53

$5.01 to $7.50 25,000 7.00 2.3 25,000 7.00 23

$7.51t0 $10.00 1,159,476 9.01 27 545,851 9.00 2.7

$10.01 to $15.00 140,090 12.00 2.9 47,534 12.00 2.9

$15.01 to $20.00 87,746 17.74 4.5 65,582 17.06 5.0

$20.01 to $30.00 297,601 27.60 49 55,047 25.35 4.7

$30.01 to $45.00 1,432,737 37.48 5.4 26,492 35.85 3.6

$45.01 to $67.50 1,469,948 54.48 4.9 26,055 62.25 3.9

$67.51 to $100.00 217,505 78.26 4.6 0 0 0

$100.01 to $150.00 58,200 108.03 4.4 0 0 0

$150.01 to $200.00 50,000 172.80 4.1 0 Q 0
5,052,783 37.19 839,855 12.89

Employee share purchase plan
The Company has an employee share purchase plan (“ESPP”) whereby participating Canadian employees can
contribute up to 10% of their pre-tax salary. The Company contributes fifty cents for each dollar a participant
contributes, with a maximum contribution of 3 % of a participant’s earnings. Compensation expense related
to the ESPP amounted to $0.9 million in 2001 ($0.7 million in 2000).

Warrants

From time to time, the Company enters into formal business arrangements for the use and distribution of
certain technology solutions with strategic partners. Under the terms of such arrangements, the partners may
acquire warrants to purchase shares of the Company.

>
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siCapital stock (cont'd)

The following table summarizes warrant activity:

December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Exercice Exercice
Number Number price Number Number price
of warrants of warrants of warrants of warrants of warrants of warrants
sutstanding®™ exercisable® exercisable outstanding™ exercisable™ exercisahle
Outstanding —~
beginning
of year 650,000 300,000 $47.24 - - -
Warrants 1,000,000% 250,000 $73.55 650,000 300,000 $47.24
Outstanding —
end of year 1,650,000 550,000 $59.20 650,000 300,000 $47.24

“ Warrants are convertible into common shares of the Company on a 1:1 basis.
% These warrants were granted to a company in which BCE Emergis has an investment accounted for as a portfolio investment.

The non-exercised warrants will become exercisable upon the attainment of certain contractual arrangements
and the exercise price will be determined at this time and expire five years thereafter. No amount has been
recorded in the financial statements as a result of these arrangements.

Contributed surplus

N
Balance December 31, 2000 25.2
Unexercised conversion option 21.0
Balance December 31, 2001 46.2

Contributed surplus as at December 31, 2000 represents the amount of the unexercised conversion option
on the convertible debenture due to parent issued in March 2000 and redeemed in December 2000. The increase
in contributed surplus in 2001 represents the amount of the unexeicised conversion option on the BCE Inc.
convertible debenture issued in December 2000 and repaid with the proceeds of the issuance and the sale
of the 3,870,968 common shares to BCE in November 2001 (see note 8j).

st Acquisitions

a) In September 2001, the Company acquired, through a merger, the assets in the business-to-business electronic
invoice presentment and payment business of San Francisco 1, LLC, wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of America,
N.A,, for $8.5 million USD; $6.0 million USD in cash and $2.5 million USD in shares.

The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method and the purchase price acquisition cost
of $8.5 million USD ($13.4 million CAD) was allocated to customer acquisition costs, which will be
amortized over a period of 5 years.
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g1 Acquisitions (cont'd)

b) In July 2001, the Company acquired the assets of ProCure.Com, a Canadian-based technology provider
of supplier enablement applications for a total cash consideration of $5.9 million. The Company also
incurred transaction costs in the amount of $0.5 million in connection with the acquisition relating
mostly to professional fees. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method.

The results of operations of ProCure.Com have been included in the Company’s results since July 6, 2001,
the date of acquisition.

The total purchase price of the acquisition was $6.4 million and was allocated as follows:

$
Purchase price allocation:
Current assets 0.3
Capital assets 0.8
Allocation of excess of purchase price
Acquired technologies 53
Cost of acquisition 6.4

¢) In June 2001, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Associates for Health Care, Inc. (“AHC"),
a privately held company involved in health care cost management in the state of Wisconsin in the U.S. for
$30.0 million USD.

Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, the Company paid $10.0 million USD at closing. The balance
of the purchase price will be paid in three equal instalments on June 28, 2002, June 28, 2003, and June 28, 2004,
by the issuance of shares with a value of $20.0 million USD. The Company has the option to settle the balance
of the purchase price with cash payments in the amount of $6.7 million USD at each of the above-mentioned dates.

The Company incurred transaction costs in the amount of approximately $2.0 million USD in connection with
the acquisition, relating mostly to professional fees. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method.

An amount of $1.25 million USD otherwise payable on June 28, 2002 will be held to be applied against
indemnification claims, if any, arising within a defined period after closing.

The results of operations of AHC have been included in the Company’s results since June 28, 2001, the date
of acquisition.

The total purchase price of the acquisition of $32.0 million USD ($48.6 million CAD) was allocated as follows:

$
Purchase price allocation:
Current assets 4.8
Capital assets 0.7
Current liabilities 1.1
Allocation of excess of purchase price
Goodwill 44.2

Cost of acquisition 48.6
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s1 Acquisitions (cont'd )

d) In September 2000, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of InvoiceLink Corporation, now
renamed BCE Emergis Technologies, Inc. (Technologies), a privately held company involved in Web-based
invoicing and payment solutions for business-to-business applications. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan
of Merger, the shares of Technologies were converted into shares of BCE Emergis as described below. In addition,
the Company assumed the issued and outstanding options to purchase Technologies shares that were
converted into options to purchase BCE Emergis shares.

Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the Company issued 566,824 shares valued at $49.2 million and
exchanged options to purchase 167,968 shares of BCE Emergis valued at $14.6 million. During the current year,
the Company paid the first of three annual instalments representing the balance of sale in shares and cash
in the amount of $15.0 million and $3.8 million respectively. Under the terms of the purchase agreement
the Company agreed to pay additional purchase consideration of up to $6.0 million USD upon the achievement
of specific objectives by Technologies. The achievement of these objectives in the current year resulted in
an increase in the purchase price of Technologies, in the amount of $6.0 million USD ($9.8 million CAD).
Of this amount, $4.8 million USD ($7.9 million CAD) has been paid in shares and cash of $6.4 million and
$1.5 million respectively. The remaining amount of $1.2 million USD ($1.9 million CAD) has been held for

a defined period. The remaining balance of the purchase price and contingent consideration will be paid

in two instalments on September 15, 2002, and September 15, 2003 by the issuance of shares, subject to certain
conditions, with a value of $40.6 million.

A maximum of 20% of the purchase price may be settled with a cash payment at BCE Emergis’ option and
is required to be settled in cash if certain criteria are met. The Company incurred transaction costs in the
amount of approximately $1.5 million in connection with the acquisition relating mostly to professional
fees. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method.

An amount of $8.8 million USD ($14.0 million CAD) of the purchase price has been held against the balance
of the purchase price, to be applied against indemnification claims, if any, up to September 15, 2002 after
which time the amount decreases to $4.4 million USD ($7.0 million CAD) up to September 15, 2003.

The results of operations of Technologies have been included in the Company’s results since September 15, 2000.

The original purchase price of the acquisition of $121.5 million and additional consideration of $9.8 million
were allocated as follows:

$
Purchase price allocation:
Current assets 1.5
Capital assets 1.2
Other assets 0.3
Current liabilities (14.7)
Deferred revenue ©.1)
Long-term debt 2.9)
Allocation of excess of purchase price
Acquired technologies 3.2
Goodwill 133.0
Original cost of acquisition 121.5
Additional consideration:
Goodwill 2.8
Total cost of acquisition 131.3

36

31




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) December 31, 2001

s1Acquisitions (cont'd)
e) In March 2000, the Comipany acquired all of the outstanding shares of United Payors and United Providers, Iric.
(“UP&UP”), now renamed BCE Emergis Corporation, a provider of health claims processing services in the
United States, for $824.3 million in cash (including transaction and integration costs). The results
of operations of BCE Emergis Corporation have been included in the Company’s results since March 24, 2000.
The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method:

3
Purchase price allocation:
Current assets 96.4
Capital assets 6.9
Advances to contracting providers, net 56.2
Other assets 19.4
Current fiabilities (22.7)
Long-term lease liability (0.4)
Attribution of excess of purchase price
Investment securities (net of related
future income taxes) 4.0
Goodwill ) 664.5
Cost of acquisition 8243

In order to provide the required financing for the acquisition of BCE Emergis Corporation, BCE purchased, by way
of private placement, 5,517,827 common shares at a price per share of $117.80 for a total cash consideration of
$650.0 million. In addition, BCE advanced $150.0 million in the form of a convertible debenture bearing interest
at a rate of 6.84% per annum. The entire amount of the convertible debenture was repaid on December 29,
2000. The amount of the unexercised conversion option on this convertible debenture is shown as the opening
balance of contributed surplus in shareholders’ equity (note 8). The accretion on the convertible debenture

in the amount of $25.2 million is shown in the Consolidated statement of earnings in 2000.

n1Exited activities

On December 21, 2000, in accordance with its plan to dispose of its interests in non-core assets, BCE Emergis
disposed of certain assets and liabilities related to the delivery of logistics electronic messaging services in

the transportation industry (“TSV”). In addition, on November 14, 2000, the Company disposed of its subsidiary
operating in the document workflow market. Proceeds received for these transactions amounted to $28.0 million
in cash and 1,388,000 shares of The Descartes Systems Group Inc. (“DSG”) valued at $54.0 million. The transaction
with DSG included a license of technology and a number of reciprocal strategic partnership alliances for the
marketing and distribution of each other’s product and service offerings. Total assets and labilities disposed

of amounted to $22.1 million and $3.0 million, respectively.

As a result of the TSV disposition, an original value of $4.6 million in DSG shares was held in escrow up to June
30, 2002. This value was subsequently written down in 2001 to $0.8 million. This amount will be applied against
post-closing indemnification claims, should any arise.

Included in the statements of earnings for the years ended December 31, are the following items related to the
operations of the exited activities: :
2001 2000
$ $

Revenue - 153
Net earnings - 4.6
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111 Net loss per share

December 31, 2001

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
$ Number of $ $ Number of $
Net loss shares Per share Net loss shares Per share
(numerator} | {(denominator) amount {numerator) | (denominator) amount
Net loss attributable
to common
shareholders (414.4) 95,186,035 (4.35) (279.3) 91,743,796 (3.04)

For the above-mentioned periods, the Company had securities outstanding which could potentially dilute basic
earnings per share in the future, but were excluded from the computation of dilutive net loss per share in the periods
presented, as their effect would have been antidilutive. Such outstanding securities consist of the following:

Year ended
December 31, 2001

Year ended

December 31,2000

Number of Shares

Number of Shares

Convertible debenture due to parent
Options
Warrants

Common shares to be issued related to acquisitions

5,052,783
1,650,000
1,658,231

1,989,389
3,361,674

650,000
1,302,157

121 Cash flow informatio

n

Years ended December 31

2001 2000
Changes in working capital:
Accounts receivable (10.2) (5.7)
Other current assets 18.0 5.0
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 143 (22.6)
Deferred revenue (6.4) 11.8
Deferred credits az.n 0.2)
3.6 (11.7)
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Additions to capital assets financed 23.1 29.2
Equity issued or to be issued with respect to acquisitions (see notes 8 and 9)
Common shares issued 10.3 49.2
Common shares to be issued 32.2 56.3
Options issued on acquisition - 14.6
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131 Commitments and contingencies

Commitments
The Company has entered into operating and capital leases for the use of computer equipment and for its principal
premises in Canada and the United States.

The computer equipment leases are classified as capital leases. The leases expire on various dates, at which time
the Company has the right, but not the obligation, to purchase the computer equipment.

Minimum lease payments for capital and operating leases for the next five years are as follows:

Operating

Capital leases leases

2002 15.8 16.7
2003 19.1 15.3
2004 7.4 14.6
2005 0.2 1.7
2006 - 10.0
Thereafter, until 2010 - 334
Total minimum lease payments 42.5 101.7-
Interest included in minimum payments 3.6 -
Total 38.9 101.7

The Company has an agreement with its banker for the financing of computer equipment. Under the terms
of the agreement, the Company can borrow a maximum amount of $32.0 million ($32.0 million in 2000)
and interest rates are negotiated at time of borrowing. As at December 31, 2001, $23.1 million ($17.3 million
in 2000) had been drawn on this credit facility.

The Company had $28.4 million of funds in transit at December 31, 2001 ($26.6 million in 2000), which
represented amounts received or receivable from insurance companies to settle specific health care claims
adjudicated on their behalf, with an equal amount payable to the providers of the health care service with
respect to these claims. These amounts have been presented on a net basis since these funds do not belong
to the Company and the Company is not liable in favor of any party.

Contingencies

In the normal course of operations, the Company becomes involved in various claims and legal proceedings.
While the final outcome with respect to claims and legal proceedings pending at December 31, 2001 cannot be
predicted with certainty, it is the opinion of management that their resolution will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or statements of earnings.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Tables in millions of Canadian dollars except share data) December 31, 2001

uiincome taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the amount that would be computed by applying
the federal and provincial statutory rate of 40.26% (41.39% in 2000) to the net loss for the year. The reasons
for the difference are as follows:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, 2001 December 31, 2000
Income tax recavery based on the statutory rate (158.3) (118.1)
Adjustments resulting from:
Non deductible amortization of intangible assets 153.0 114.0
Future income tax asset drawdown due to reduction
in future tax rates 16.5 -
Loss on sale of marketable securities and other assets 3.2 -
Loss on write down of marketable securities and other assets 2.3 -
Foreign rate differential 1.2 4.9
Other 3.2 2.8)
Gain on sale of exited activities — 4.9
Tax benefits not recognized ' — 1.0
21.1 (5.9)

The tax effects of temporary differences which give rise to the future income tax asset at December 31, are as follows:

Current Long-term

Future income tax asset 2001 2000 2001 2000
Capital assets and intangibles — - 60.3 60.5
Non-capital losses carryforward 1.4 5.1 - -
Investment tax credits 0.4 — 4.5 3.7
Other items 3.8 2.4 39 9.2
5.6 7.5 68.7 73.4

As at December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company had non-capital losses carryforward of approximately $4.5 million
and $13.0 million, respectively, in the United States. The non-capital losses carryforward expire in various years
until 2020 and are subject to certain restrictions.

On January 1, 2000, the Company adopted the accounting recommendations of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants Handbook section 3465, Income taxes, which replaces the deferral method with

the liability method of tax allacation. This change resulted in an increase in future income taxes (long term)
of $31.4 million and a decrease in the deficit of $31.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.
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151 Foreign currency translation adjustment

Unrealized translation adjustments arise on the translation of foreign currency denominated assets

and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign operations. An unrealized foreign exchange gain of $59.1 million exists
at December 31, 2001, compared to an exchange gain of $17.1 million at December 31, 2000. The increase

in the gain is predominantly due to the increase in the U.S. exchange rate in 2001 compared to 2000 and

the increase in the net asset base in 2001.

151 Operating segment information

The Company focuses its activities in three business units (eHealth Solutions Group, BCE Emergis - Canada
and BCE Emergis - U.S.A.), offering a full suite of products to companies in transaction-intensive, eHealth
and financial services sectors. The following table shows the activities of each of the three business units:

There are no inter-segment transactions or significant differences between segment and corporate accounting policies.

Years ended December 31

eHealth Solutions BCE Emergis - BCE Emergis -
Group Canada U.S.A. Total
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000 2 2000
Revenue 307.0 209.9 296.4 2343 53.0 23.8 656.4 468.0
Direct Costs 49.4 29.2 96.1 78.2 31 4.6 148.6 1120
Gross Margin 257.6 180.7 200.3 156.1 49.9 19.2 507.8 356.0

All of the Company’s business units share in the use of its capital asset infrastructure. As a result, the Company
does not disclose a measure of total assets by business unit. In addition, the asset allocation is not used by
the Company in its management reporting for decision making purposes.

Geographic information
The following table sets out certain geographic information relative to the Company which differs from
the business units of the Company:

Years ended December 31

Revenue 2001 2000
Canada , 385.5 297.8
United States 270.2 168.3
Other 0.7 1.9

656.4 468.0
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iRelated party transactions

The following transactions occurred in the normal course of operations with BCE Inc., the parent company, and
other companies in the BCE group subject to common control during the respective periods and were measured
at the exchange value, which is the amount established and agreed to by the related parties.

Year ended December 31

2001 2000
Revenue (a) 205.4 122.6
Direct costs 99.9 73.0
Expenses 61.0 44.2
Interest expense on convertible debenture due to parent 8.5 7.9

(a) Includes services for resale to third parties and for internal use.

The balance sheet includes the following balances with BCE Inc., the parent company, and other companies
in the BCE group subject to common control:

As at December 31

20014 2000
Accounts receivable 23.0 16.5
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 17.8 4.2
Convertible debenture due to parent - 129.0
Option on convertible debenture due to parent - 210
Long-term debt 1.1 2.1

wiFair value of financial instruments

The fair value of cash, temporary investments, marketable securities, accounts receivable, certain assets included
in current and long term Other assets, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying
amount given that they will mature shortly. The fair value of the long-term debt approximates its carrying value.
Fair values are based on estimates using present value and other valuation techniques which are significantly
affected by assumptions concerning future cash flows and discount rates and should not be interpreted as being
realizable in an immediate settlement of the instruments.
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